



# MOBILISING THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS THROUGH UNIVERSITIES:

**Case Studies of Sustainable Campuses in Malaysia** 

Jasmin Irisha Jim Ilham, Malik Hisyam Zaihan, Sakiinah Mahamad Hakimi, Mahamad Hakimi Ibrahim, Shakirin Shahrul

**JCI-JSC Working Paper** 

JCI-JSC-WP-2019-03

Mobilising the Sustainable Development Goals Through Universities: Case Studies of Sustainable Campuses in Malaysia

JCI-JSC Working Paper JCI-JSC-WP-2019-03

First Edition, July 2019.

Primary Author
Jasmin Irisha Jim Ilham

Contributing Authors
Malik Hisyam Zaihan
Sakiinah Mahamad Hakimi
Mahamad Hakimi Ibrahim
Shakirin Shahrul

Editors
Woo Wing Thye
Shandre Mugan Thangavelu

The JCI-JSC Working Paper series is published to disseminate preliminary research findings and stimulate intellectual discourse on wide-ranging public policy issues, ranging from security to sustainability. The views expressed herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Jeffrey Cheah Institute on Southeast Asia and the Jeffrey Sachs Center on Sustainable Development.

ISBN: 978-967-5492-16-7

© Sunway University Sdn. Bhd.

Published by Sunway University Sdn Bhd

No. 5 Jalan Universiti Bandar Sunway 47500 Selangor Darul Ehsan.

In collaboration with Jeffrey Cheah Institute on Southeast Asia and Jeffrey Sachs Center on Sustainable Development.

Jeffrey Cheah Institute on Southeast Asia (JCI) is an independent public policy think-tank based at Sunway University on the outskirts of the Malaysian capital, Kuala Lumpur. The Institute's research programme is grouped around three core disciplines: economic development, governance, and social progress, including education. Its mission is to develop solutions to some of the region's most pressing development problems. JCI seeks to engage policymakers, scholars and ordinary citizens through regular public lectures and discussions, and to build lasting academic partnerships in the region and the wider Asia-Pacific.

**Jeffrey Sachs Center on Sustainable Development (JSC)** is a regional center of excellence that advances the achievement of the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in Malaysia and Southeast Asia, tackling the sustainability agenda through education, training, research and policy advisory. Launched in December 2016, the Center operates out of Sunway University and was borne out of a \$10 million gift from the Jeffrey Cheah Foundation (JCF) to the UN Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN).

# **ABSTRACT**

The 2030 Agenda as adopted by the United Nations General Assembly paves the way forward for planet, people and prosperity—an Agenda that replaced the Millennium Development Goals with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). The SDGs consist of 17 goals, 169 targets and 232 indicators. Essentially the goals exist to address sustainability holistically, covering all dimensions including economic, social, cultural and ecological aspects. The United Nations has identified Goal 4: Quality Education as one of the main drivers in achieving the Agenda. This paper focuses specifically on Target 4.7: Education for sustainable development and global citizenship. Universities play a vital role in engaging youth and generating knowledge and expertise in understanding and implementing the SDGs. This paper explores the role of universities in ensuring the SDGs are met, as a mobilising catalyst for accelerated implementation, as well as case studies of sustainable campuses in Malaysia that showcase the community and student outreach projects, in line with the SDGs, such as the Bicycle Project at the University of Nottingham, Malaysia Campus, Kompos to Kelulut (K2K) at the Universiti Sains Malaysia and Sunway Youth for Sustainable Development at Sunway University. The case studies show that education goes beyond the formal curricula, emphasising on soft skills and critical thinking – a major component of and contributor towards proenvironmental behaviour. A set of recommendations are included to address limitations in the study.

Keywords: SDGs – universities – sustainability - sustainable campus.

# **CONTENTS**

Mobilising the Sustainable Development Goals through Universities: Case Studies of S Campuses in Malaysia	
Introduction	
Understanding Sustainability in Malaysian Universities	3
Methodology	4
Case Study Particulars	5
The Bicycle Project, the University of Nottingham, Malaysia Campus	5
Kompos to Kelulut (K2K), Universiti Sains Malaysia	5
Sunway Youth for Sustainable Development, Sunway University	6
Discussion	8
Localization of SDGs	8
Factors Affecting Positive Change	8
Limitations and Lessons Learnt	9
Conclusion	11
REFERENCES	12
AUTHORS	14

# MOBILISING THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS THROUGH UNIVERSITIES: CASE STUDIES OF SUSTAINABLE CAMPUSES IN MALAYSIA

#### Introduction

The United Nations Rio+20 Conference in 2012 witnessed the establishment of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by 193 countries (United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), 2015). The SDGs replace the expiring Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) in a post-2015 setting, with a vision of achieving the 2030 Agenda. The purpose of the SDGs is to stimulate governments and civil society to step up and address the interrelatedness of environmental, societal and economic challenges that we face today (Norstrom et al. 2014). Although the previous MDGs were a historic pioneering set of goals for global mobilisation, it has been critiqued for having a narrow focus on human development, whilst neglecting the significance of natural capital and ecosystem services (Sachs, 2012). There is also little cross-referencing between targets and indicators, as well as a lack of universal ambition for the transformation of sustainability pathways (Norstrom et al. 2014). Unlike the MDGs, the SDGs put forward a unified universal framework to enhance human prosperity in the Anthropocene, where global environmental risks are ever rising (Griggs, 2014).

The urgency for sustainable development is apparent as the triple bottom line approach is key towards determining human wellbeing (Sachs, 2012). Nearly all of the world's societies have expressed that they strive for a holistic collaboration of economic development, environmental sustainability and social inclusion. However, specific objectives may differ globally and between societies. Nonetheless, this proves that the SDGs concern everyone and has to adopt an intersectoral approach in terms of implementation across levels. The 17 goals, for example, highlight different areas of focus in achieving a sustainable future. Goal 4 in particular, represents quality education.

Education represents the most fundamental process of facilitated learning, to inhibit knowledge, values, skills and habits. Education is so important that the United Nations called for the International Decade of Education for Sustainable Development (IDESD) in 2005. The purpose of IDESD is to provide a platform to integrate the values, principles and practices of sustainable development in education and learning holistically. UNESCO (2005) stated that education for sustainable development (ESD) is set to review educational approaches to ensure that they were up

to pace with the evolving challenges of sustainable development. Ultimately, the goal for IDESD was to encourage behavioural change in hopes of achieving a more sustainable future, especially in terms of environmental integrity, economic viability and a just society for all (UNESCO, 2005).

At higher institutional levels, ESD is most likely to be associated with an integrated curriculum structure in individual modules or as part as a larger course. However, this is not often the case. The SDGs are taught in various methods and via myriad platforms. More often than not, the SDGs are incorporated in extracurricular activities, whether it be led by student, faculty or campus community. Individual academic interest and motivation are often the key drivers for action and implementation for SDGs in universities, as they are more well informed on UN campaigns compared to university management. The existence of pockets of implementation by conscious individuals shows that there is a lack of coordinated approach at all levels of institution (Mohamedbhai, 2015).

The objective of this paper is to compile and analyse case studies of sustainable initiatives in universities in Malaysia as best practices that can be adopted by other universities moving forward the sustainability agenda. The paper focuses on the following aims:

- 1) To highlight the proactiveness of the campus community in Malaysian universities in implementing sustainable initiatives and the localisation of SDGs via case studies of existing projects;
- 2) To identify the factors affecting positive change in campus sustainability to further enhance the implementation of SDGs in universities; and
- 3) To provide recommendations to improve the advancement of ESD and sustainability initiatives of universities in Malaysia.

# UNDERSTANDING SUSTAINABILITY IN MALAYSIAN UNIVERSITIES

In Malaysia, there are different models of higher education institutions, which include mainly public universities, polytechnics, private universities, branches of foreign universities and private colleges (Saadatian, 2011). Different models of higher education institutions (HEI) have different operational procedures. Public universities are funded by the government, of which five of these universities have "Research University" status. Private universities and colleges are universities and colleges set up by financially sound corporations and monitored by the Ministry of Higher Education (MOHE) of Malaysia. Currently, Malaysia has 20 public universities, 43 private universities, 31 private colleges, 9 foreign university branches and 34 polytechnics (StudyMalaysia.com, 2016).

According to Mohd. et. al. (2011), the definition of a sustainable campus is based on its operations, social and economy that promotes long term survival of the environment and respective social structures. Another definition of sustainable campus as developed by Cole (2003), Velazquez et. al. (2006), and Habib and Ismaila (2008) emphasise well-being and health as the key characteristics leading towards a better balance between social, economic and environment goals. In general, a sustainable campus would cover four areas of university community, which include the administration, academic departments, university research efforts and the local community (Kasim et. al., 2014). The studies on Malaysia by Kasim et. al. (2014) and Abd-Razak et. al. (2012) suggest that planning and design of the campus play an important role in developing a healthy environment hence better supporting the sustainability of campus.

There is a considerable amount of environmental awareness with regards to achieving a sustainable campus in Malaysia (Abdullah, 2014). Many universities are involved in monitoring their campuses' energy consumption and waste, while others focus on fundamental basics such as recycling and separation of food waste. The levels of sustainability in Malaysian university campuses vary as some are merely in the pioneer stage while others are veterans in the field.

# **METHODOLOGY**

The paper adopts the case study framework that will capture both the qualitative and quantitative analysis of the sustainability initiatives of Malaysian universities. The case study methodology incorporates various primary and secondary data generation techniques such as reviewing literature, interviews of key stakeholders, and also physical 'observations'.

The literature review covers the leading electronic journal databases. Interviews with key persons-in-charge of leading the projects in each of the campuses were carried out to further understand the depth of the projects. In addition, we also adopted physical 'observations' as a technique to observe the behavioural and visual aspects of the university campus, which includes composition, form and appearance of the university (Shuhana et. al., 2007).

The following three campuses and projects were selected based on accessibility and programmes adopted by the respective universities: (a) University of Nottingham, Malaysia Campus's 'Bicycle Project' from 2015-2016, (b) University Sains Malaysia's 'Kompos to Kelulut' in 2017, and (c) Sunway University's 'Sunway Youth for Sustainable Development' in 2018. All the key activities were closely monitored to capture the key dimensions and to ensure accurate representation of information.

# **CASE STUDY PARTICULARS**

The University of Nottingham Malaysia Campus (UNMC), Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM) and Sunway University (SU) were selected as case studies for this paper. The three selected universities are very diverse, with UNMC being a foreign university branch campus, USM being a public university and SU a private local university. There are different approaches being made to tackle sustainability issues in each university as well. This paper highlights the common best practices for sustainable campus initiatives, regardless of the university background or approach.

#### The Bicycle Project, the University of Nottingham, Malaysia Campus

The University of Nottingham, Malaysia Campus is situated about 38 kilometres from Kuala Lumpur, in a quiet town in Semenyih, Selangor. It is the first British university campus in Malaysia, and one of the first to open outside the UK. The Malaysia Campus was set up in 2000, and moved to its current location in Semenyih in 2005. The total enrolment of students in UNMC is at an estimated 5,000 in 2016. It is considered a relatively new and small campus, which in turn creates a rather intimate connection between the campus communities.

The campus mimics the attributes of the University Park Campus in the UK, spanning about 50.6 hectares, with lush greeneries and a man-made lake in front of an iconic clock tower. The university has four faculties, which comprises teaching staff from the UK Campus, as well as competent international and local lecturers as well. All students take part actively in co-curricular activities under the Student Association (UNMC, 2018). Many sustainable initiatives in UNMC are developed through a bottom-up approach, from a 'Bring Your Own Tupperware' initiative, to getting more recycling bins on campus.

As students become more environmentally conscious, so does the university. In 2015, a group of students gathered together to carry out the UNMC Bicycle Project. Co-founded by Jasmin Irisha Jim Ilham and Malik Hisyam Zaihan, the UNMC Bicycle Project aimed to provide an alternative mode of transportation, cultivate a cycling culture, lower the amount of campus carbon emissions from motorised vehicles, and encourage a healthy lifestyle among the campus community. There were two initial reasons behind why the project was carried out. Local students faced a parking problem on campus, as there was a lack of parking lots to cater to the high number of vehicles. On the other hand, international students, mostly UK and EU students, were very interested to rent bicycles - a service that the campus did not offer.

A team of students who primarily cycle to campus were put together, and in collaboration with the Sustainability Research Network, conducted a campus-wide survey to gauge interest towards cycling. Based on the survey, 69% of respondents expressed their interest in having a bicycle rental system on campus. As a result, a proposal was drafted and presented to the Campus Services director, seeking support to pilot a student-run, small-scale bicycle rental system.

This also led to the conception of UNMC's first ever Cycling Club, to provide a platform for students to not only cycle together but to champion for sustainable transportation. The Cycling Club was established to not only provide a common platform for interested individuals to gather and form a community, but also to monitor the progress of the Bicycle Project.

Through multiple meetings and discussions, the Campus Services director showed his support for more bicycles to be brought in to campus, although he questioned the feasibility and sustainability

of it. The idea of bringing in e-bikes was toyed around with but did not eventually become a reality. The emergence of oBike in Malaysia provided just the solution, as the company had intended to build a presence in university campuses. Bicycles provided by oBike were welcomed into UNMC and saw many students pick up the habit of cycling to get from one end of campus to the other. UNMC has also incorporated cycling as part of their Campus Sustainability portfolio.

The UNMC Bicycle Project was purely a bottom-up, grassroots movement, led by the students themselves.

#### Kompos to Kelulut (K2K), Universiti Sains Malaysia

Universiti Sains Malaysia (USM) is located on an island state on the northwest coast of Peninsular Malaysia, called Penang or Pulau Pinang. USM was founded in 1969 and is one of the oldest institute of higher learning in Northern Malaysia. It had around 24,375 students enrolled in 2016, making it one of the biggest universities in Malaysia in terms of enrolment. It is also large in terms of space, taking up a 416.6 hectare site (Universiti Sains Malaysia, 2018).

USM is no stranger in the realm of sustainability in higher education. Aside from being one of the leading research universities in Malaysia, USM is committed to "transforming higher education for a sustainable tomorrow." USM is well recognised as a Regional Centre of Expertise (USM-RCE) for education for sustainable development, taking part in the Kampus Sejahtera (Campus Well-Being) Programme, and most of all, gaining the Malaysia's Accelerated Programme for Excellence (APEX) status.

The strength of USM's ability to push forward the sustainability agenda lies in the commitment of campus faculty to lead and be agents of change. One of the successful examples in particular is the School of Industrial Technology's Compost to Stingless Bees project, better known as 'Kompos to Kelulut' (K2K). The K2K project started in 2014 under the Knowledge Transfer Programme, a research grant awarded by the Ministry of Higher Education. The Knowledge Transfer Programme awards grants to researchers from local universities to share their research findings with the industry and local communities for two years. It is also intended to train fresh graduates.

The K2K project was led by Professor Dr. Mahamad Hakimi bin Ibrahim from Eco-process Research Technology Group (ECOPRO), the School of Industrial Technology. The project is a continuation of existing research on Composting and Vermicomposting which started in 2010. At the time, the purpose of the project was purely for research, in which 8 Master students and 3 PhD students graduated from various studies on Composting and Vermicomposting. The K2K project grew into the Rooftop Wild Garden project as ECOPRO searched for space to grow plants using the compost that was produced during the composting and vermicomposting research. ECOPRO identified the university rooftop as a suitable space to start a wild garden based on the concept of zero waste, zero space and zero time.

At the same time, the extra compost was deposited at an area nearby the school, called Bukit TI. Bukit TI, also known as the Green Technology Garden, is used as a teaching and training centre for the K2K project on the methodology of Ecosystem Design & Restoration. Visitors come from local and international universities, government agencies such as Forest Research Institute Malaysia (FRIM), community colleges, schools, private sectors and the local community.

This project also creates a volunteering opportunity for USM students and the local community to participate in greening Bukit TI. Workshops are regularly conducted on topics such as making Eco Soap, developing their own Effective Microbe (EM), and various methods of composting and vermicomposting. Ultimately, the project aims to grow a 'USM Community Garden' using Green Technology as well as Ecosystem Design & Restoration.

Having a faculty to lead and contribute to the sustainability efforts of the campus is one of the main driving forces for the advancement of sustainability of the university.

#### **Sunway Youth for Sustainable Development, Sunway University**

Sunway University (SU) is located 16km away from the Kuala Lumpur city center, in Bandar Sunway, Subang Jaya, Selangor. The university was first established in 1987 as Sunway College, then upgraded to university college in 2004, followed by full university status in 2011. It has over 5,000 students and is owned and governed by the Jeffrey Cheah Foundation.

As a leader in sustainability, SU champions the United Nation's 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). SU supports sustainability initiatives via constantly pushing forward the best minds to discover new ideas in pursuing environmental and economic issues. In line with the goal of creating a sustainable future for all, SU hosts the Jeffrey Sachs Centre on Sustainable Development (JSC), which is a collaboration between the Jeffrey Cheah Foundation and the United Nations Sustainable Development Solutions Network (UN-SDSN) (Sunway University, 2018).

As part of the university's sustainability framework, the Sunway Youth for Sustainable Development (SYSD) was established and co-founded by Natasha Ting and Mohd Shakirin in 2016. The society aims to raise awareness about the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) among Sunway University stakeholders and advocate for the realisation of solutions on campus. It would also serve to collaborate with regional organisations to work on implementation of the SDGs. In 2017, a committee of students from Sunway University were appointed to the committee of SYSD to champion these goals on campus, under the supervision of JSC.

SYSD is established as a platform for Sunway University students to be more involved in projects and activities related to the causes under the 17 United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDG). For instance, SYSD had organised its inaugural event, Earth Week, to bring students together and expose them with the 17 UN SDG. These goals are important guidelines to reduce societal as well as environmental problems in the today's community. Activities like Earth Week aims to embed the motivation and desire in students to be a change agent in their respective communities.

SYSD was formed as a result of an organised framework structure in order to implement the SDGs effectively in the community.

# DISCUSSION

The three case studies put forward in this paper showcases the different projects and approaches leading to a sustainable campus in Malaysia. From solving an urban transportation issue, nature-based initiatives, to grooming youth champions for SDGs, there are many ways for sustainability to be practiced and implemented in higher institutions. Sustainability in pedagogy through ESD is not enough, instead, it must come with experience and hands-on engagement that can harness soft skills and critical thinking among students. According to Reza, Choy and Pereira (2013), field-based pedagogical approach is effective and helps students understand sustainability from a broader perspective. This aligns with the presented case studies, that were not part of the formal university curricula. These 'Sustainability in Practice' examples may not cater towards the usual pedagogical approach, but is important as it creates an immense impact on society (Reza, 2016).

#### **Localization of SDGs**

The Government of Malaysia recently launched a Voluntary National Review (VNR) 2017 of the SDGs at the High-level Political Forum. Localisation of SDGs can be identified by mapping the 17 SDGs, 169 targets and 232 indicators against the current 11th Malaysia Plan, themed 'Anchoring Growth on People'. The VNR acts as a testimony of Malaysia's continuous commitment to achieve the 2030 Agenda and the SDGs (VNR, 2017).

The 17 SDGs are universal and transformational, providing a guide to address major development challenges for humanity. The case studies portrayed in this paper act as a medium for the localisation of SDGs and demonstrate an impactful local outcome. For example, the UNMC Bicycle Project relates to SDG1: Sustainable Cities and Communities, K2K relates to SDG4: Quality Education and SYSD relates to SDG17: Partnership for the Goals.

Leaders in local communities have the responsibility to align SDG framework and national policies together, making localisation of SDG a priority. Towards the achievement of the 2030 SDG Agenda, implementation of the SDGs at a local scale is critical. Among the main points moving forward from the VNR include localising SDGs at sub-national levels via adopting the national multi-stakeholder governance at state levels, mobilisation of resources through partnerships and knowledge sharing to strengthen data readiness for a more comprehensive dataset for implementation of SDGs (Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform, n/a).

#### **Factors Affecting Positive Change**

There are several questions that spurred up from analyzing the projects from the case studies:

- 1. What drives the motivation for students and staff to carry out their sustainable projects?
- 2. Does the awareness of students and campus community on sustainability reflect how sustainable the overall campus is? Or do existing sustainable facilities that are already available on campus enhance the awareness of students and the campus community?
- 3. How does one ensure continuity of the project and influence others in respective circles to adopt the same practices?

Pro-environmental behaviours are evident in the co-founders and project leaders, despite the project being a grassroots movement or a product of an institutional setup. They recognised that there are several environmental problems that encroach the world and pose a threat to sustainability, which include climate change, anthropogenic pollution and biodiversity loss (Steg

and Vlek, 2008). The direction of environmental education is currently shifting, via the reorienting higher education process (Akiyama et. al., 2013). This process shifts the traditional knowledge on environmental education and sustainability towards integrating that curricula to establish a role that higher institutions can play.

The emergence of not only environmental leadership, but also youth leadership was observed in all three case studies. The UNMC Bicycle Project was independently co-founded by students, the K2K USM project hones undergraduate and graduate students to volunteer and take up research in the field, while the SYSD SU team of organisational members is fully comprised of university students. This reveals that modern day sustainability extends beyond sharing existing scientific knowledge, but 'walking the talk' from what was learned within the four walls of a classroom. Akiyama et. al. (2013) argue that Asian universities are relatively slow and distant from global movements of networking in environmental education and leadership development, as well as lacking active involvement in participatory leadership programmes. This is highly debatable for universities in Malaysia as there is an improving trend that higher institutions are adopting sustainable practices, due to the localisation of SDGs into the national agenda.

The question on the direction of change, whether high student awareness leads to greater campus sustainability or if reformed campus facilities leads the way to greater student awareness, is a chicken-and-egg dilemma. To achieve whole-of-institution change and adopt a holistic sustainability approach in universities, there are a number of criteria to take into consideration, which primarily starts at an institutional level. Universities with clear goals and strong sustainable policy directions will be able to advance ESD more smoothly (Ralph and Stubbs, 2014). However, will this translate into pro-environmental behavioural change and increase in environmental awareness? Behavioural change and awareness takes time, and is dependent on the effectiveness of the surrounding environment in influencing pro-environmental choices and decision. For example, a student is more likely to recycle if recycling bins are easily found around the campus, because it is convenient for them. But what happens when there are no recycling bins that can be found? The student will most likely discard the recyclable disposal in a trash can.

What the three case studies have in common is that they provide a platform for the campus community to be more environmentally cautious and to increase awareness on sustainability. The UNMC Bicycle Project aims to provide a bicycle rental service to encourage more people to cycle, the K2K USM project dedicates an outdoor space for nature based learning to cater to hands-on experiential training, whereas SYSD SU is a common platform for youth to learn from one another to enhance youth leadership in sustainability and further inspire others to be more environmentally aware.

Continuity of sustainability projects in universities is vital to ensure that more in the campus community can benefit from them. A key success factor that is identified through the three case studies is people, particularly committed individuals. People who hold leadership roles in the projects are responsible for the operational and implementation of the project. Other attributes that are important to maintain the sustainability of the projects is commitment and funding. Thus, capacity building plays a fundamental key to ensure the continuity of the projects. Being able to identify key potential individuals to carry on what was started is a challenge, but is definitely needed. It is considered challenging because universities have a high turnover rate, as students only spend three to four years in a university.

#### **Limitations and Lessons Learnt**

The key success factors are also key limitations that were identified in determining the success of projects. In moving forward, it is pertinent to address leadership, funding, policies and human

resource challenges. The case studies did not highlight the timeframe, manpower and number of activities carried out per year. These attributes would influence the effectiveness of the projects and how the projects are able to outreach to the community and achieve goals accordingly. A multifaceted approach can be adopted in advancing ESD and sustainability initiatives on campus that includes:

- Establishing a sustainability framework in universities to govern, enhance and support the strategic directions of environmental sustainability on campus;
- Consistency in the funding allocated in order to encourage students and staff to carry out sustainability initiatives and integrate sustainability in the curricula;
- Engaging with environmental leaders and advocates within the university to mobilise the sustainability movement and create awareness in the community;
- Providing capacity building training to hone skills in staff and students of the university to further understand the university's environmental sustainability principles, directions and policy (Ralph & Stubbs, 2014).

# CONCLUSION

Universities play an important role in shaping the leaders of tomorrow, today. The importance of achieving the 2030 Agenda has increasingly become a priority for universities that put forward Sustainable Development as one of their key areas of development and have committed to embedding SDGs as core values and principles in their everyday teachings and activities. Adopting best practices from the case studies could elevate universities in Malaysia in terms of sustainability, making universities in Malaysia align with the global United Nations standards, thus increasing the university's performance in producing more valuable and holistic graduates that are environmentally conscious and aware of the present conditions of the planet.

### REFERENCES

- Abd-Razak, M. Z., Utaberta, N. & Handryant A. (2012) A Study of Students' Perception on Sustainability of Campus Design: A Case Study of Four Research Universities Campus in Malaysia. *Research Journal of Environmental and Earth Sciences*, 4(6), 646-657.
- Akiyama, T., An, K. J., Furumai, H & Katayama, H. (2013) Chapter 2, The Concept of Environmental Leader, T. Mino and K. Hanaki (eds.) (2013) *Environmental Leadership Capacity Building in Higher Education*, DOI 10.1007/978-4-431-54340-4\_2.
- Cole, L. (2003) Assessing sustainability on Canadian University campuses: Development of a campus sustainability assessment framework. Canada Royal Roads University.
- Griggs, D., Stafford Smith, M., Rockström, J., Öhman, M. C., Gaffney, O., Glaser, G., Kanie, N., Noble, I., Steffen, W., & Shyamsundar, P. (2014) An integrated framework for sustainable development goals. *Ecology and Society*, 19, (4), 49. http://dx.doi. org/10.5751/ES-07082-190449.
- Habib, M. Alshuwaikhat & Ismaila, A., (2008) An integrated approach to achieving campus sustainability: assessment of the current campus environmental management practices. *Journal of Cleaner Production, 16,* 1777-1785.
- Kasim, Z., & Ujang, N. (2014) Perception towards sustainability polytechnic campus in Malaysia. *Alam Cipta,*  $\sqrt{1}$ , 15-26.
- Megat Abdullah, A. & Ismail, A. S. (2014) Towards Sustainable Campus Environment: Case Study of Universiti Teknologi Malaysia Campus, Johor Bahru, Malaysia. Proceedings of 8th SEATUC Symposium.
- Mohamedbhai, G. (2015) The Challenge of Graduate Unemployment in Africa. *International Higher Education*. Retrieved from: http://napoleon.bc.edu/ojs/index.php/ihe/article/viewFile/6140/5379 [Accessed on: 28th February 2018].
- Mohd., Z. A. R., Abdullah, N. G. A., Muhammad, F. I., Mohd. Nor, Ismar, M. S., & Che Ani, A. I. (2011) Towards a sustainable campus: Comparison of the physical development planning of researchuniversity campuses in Malaysia. *Journal of Sustainable Development*, *4*, (4), 210-220.
- Norström, A. V., Dannenberg, A., McCarney, G., Milkoreit, M., Diekert, F., Engström, G., Fishman, R., Gars, J., Kyriakopoolou, E., Manoussi, V., Meng, K., Metian, M., Sanctuary, M., Schlüter, M., Schoon, M., Schultz, L., & Sjöstedt, M. (2014) Three necessary conditions for establishing effective Sustainable Development Goals in the Anthropocene. *Ecology and Society, 19*, (3): 8. http://dx.doi.org/10.5751/ES-06602-190308.
- Ralph, M. & Stubbs, W. (2014) Integrating environmental sustainability into universities. *High Educ, 67*, 71-90.
- Reza, M. I. H. (2016) Sustainability in Higher Education: Perspectives of Malaysian Higher Education System. *SAGE Open,* DOI: 10.1177/2158244016665890.
- Reza, M. I. H., Choy, E. A., & Pereira, J. J. (2013) *A field based pedagogical approach is needed for understanding sustainability: The context of disaster risk reduction in Malaysia.* International conference on "Bridging sustainability in research to pedagogy: Theory and practice," Nanyang Technological University, Singapore.
- Steg, L. & Vlek, C. (2009) Encouraging pro-environmental behaviour: An integrative review and research agenda. *Journal of Environmental Psychology, 29*, 309–317.
- Saadatian, O., Salleh, E., Mohd. Tahir, O., & Dola, K. (2011) Significance of Community in Malaysian Higher Educational Institutions Sustainability. *Pertanika, J. Soc. Sci. & Hum, University Putra Malaysia Press, 19,* (1), 243-261.

- Sachs, J. D. (2012) From Millennium Development Goals to Sustainable Development Goals. *Lancet, 379*, 2206–11.
- Shuhana, S., Ahmad, B. S., Hasanuddin, L., Rozeyta, O., Norsiah, A., Aziz, M. & Noor, M., (2007) *Kriteria Reka Bentuk Persekitaran Kampus Yang Kondusif Bagi Institusi Pengajian Tinggi Di Malaysia.* University Teknologi Malaysia.
- Sunway University (2018) Sustainability. Retrieved from: <a href="https://university.sunway.edu.my/sustainability">https://university.sunway.edu.my/sustainability</a> [Accessed on: 20th May 2018].
- Steg, L. & Vlek, C. (2009) Encouraging pro-environmental behaviour: An integrative review and research agenda. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *29*, 309–317.
- StudyMalaysia.com (2016) List of Universities in Malaysia. Retrieved from:

  <a href="https://www.studymalaysia.com/education/top-stories/list-of-universities-in-malaysia">https://www.studymalaysia.com/education/top-stories/list-of-universities-in-malaysia</a> [Accessed on: 28th February 2018].
- Sustainable Development Knowledge Platform (n.a.) Malaysia, Voluntary National Review 2017. Retrieved from: <a href="https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/memberstates/malaysia">https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/memberstates/malaysia</a> [Accessed on: 20th May 2018].
- UNDP (2015) The Sustainable Development Goals go live on 1 January 2016. Retrieved from: <a href="https://www.un.org/development/desa/statements/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2016/01/Overview\_SDGs\_EN.pdf">https://www.un.org/development/desa/statements/wp-content/uploads/sites/12/2016/01/Overview\_SDGs\_EN.pdf</a> [Accessed on: 28th February 2018].
- UNESCO (2005). Education for Sustainable Development. Retrieved from: <a href="https://en.unesco.org/themes/education-sustainable-development">https://en.unesco.org/themes/education-sustainable-development</a> [Accessed on: 28th February 2018].
- Universiti Sains Malaysia (2018) USM Profile. Retrieved from: <a href="https://www.usm.my/index.php/en/my-usm/background/usm-profile">https://www.usm.my/index.php/en/my-usm/background/usm-profile</a> [Accessed on: 20th May 2018].
- University of Nottingham Malaysia Campus (2018) Current Students. Retrieved from: <a href="https://www.nottingham.edu.my/CurrentStudents/index.aspx">https://www.nottingham.edu.my/CurrentStudents/index.aspx</a> [Accessed on: 20th May 2018].
- Velazquez, L., Munguia, N., Platt, A., & Taddei, J. (2006) Sustainable University: what can be the matter? *Journal of Cleaner Production, 14*, 810-819.
- Voluntary National Report (2017) Malaysia, Sustainable Development Goals. *Economic Planning Unit,* Putrajaya, Malaysia.

# **AUTHORS**

Jasmin Irisha Jim Ilham is a research associate at the Jeffrey Sachs Center on Sustainable Development, Sunway University. Her research interests include urban sustainability, socioecological studies, climate change and environmental education. Before joining the Institute, she was based in Astana, Kazakhstan as Green Growth Guru for Malaysia at EXPO 2017. Prior to that, she was a Research Assistant at the School of Educational Studies, Universiti Sains Malaysia and was involved in setting up Malaysia's pioneer bike sharing system, Melaka Bike Share. Jasmin is actively involved with youth mobilisation at the climate change negotiations via the Malaysian Youth Delegation. She holds a Bachelor of Science with Honours in Environmental Science from the University of Nottingham, Malaysia Campus and Certificate in Environmental Issues from the East-West Center, Honolulu, Hawaii.

Contributing authors are **Malik Hisyam Zaihan** (Nottingham University Business School, University of Nottingham, Malaysia Campus), **Sakiinah Mahamad Hakimi** (School of Industrial Technology, Universiti Sains Malaysia), **Mahamad Hakimi Ibrahim** (School of Industrial Technology, Universiti Sains Malaysia), and **Shakirin Shahrul** (Sunway University Business School, Sunway University).

Comments on the working paper can be directed to Jasmin Irisha Jim Ilham at <u>jasminj@sunway.edu.my</u>.

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The author would like to extend her utmost gratitude to individuals and institutions who have provided input and contributed to this paper. This includes co-authors, Malik Hisyam Zaihan, Sakiinah Mahamad Hakimi, Mahamad Hakimi Ibrahim and Shakirin Shahrul, and supporting institutions, Sunway University, University of Nottingham, Malaysia Campus, and Universiti Sains Malaysia. She is grateful to everyone who has been involved and played key roles in mobilising the the Bicycle Project, *Kompos to Kelulut* (K2K) and Sunway Youth for Sustainable Development, including Ee Phin Wong, Nicholas Ching, Amaravathy Sivalingam, Norizan Esa, Farah Mastura Rosli, Anizah Mohd Salleh, Hamzah Hamid, Jeremy Lim, Amirah Majid and others.

The author would like to thank the Jeffrey Sachs Center for enabling her to write and put together this paper, especially Woo Wing Thye and Karen Chand for their endless support. Sincere thank you to Shandre Thangavelu, Derek Kok and Ho Yi Jian for their comments and editorial expertise, and Lee Chooi Yee for ensuring that things go smoothly on the administrative end for the paper presentation.

This paper was written under the auspices of the Jeffrey Sachs Center's research grant, and has been presented as an earlier version at the 4<sup>th</sup> World Symposium on Sustainable Development at Universities (WSSD-U-2018) held at Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang. This paper was awarded the Best Paper Award for the international conference.



The Jeffrey Cheah Institute on Southeast Asia is an independent public policy think tank, based at Sunway University on the outskirts of the Malaysian capital, Kuala Lumpur. The Institute's research programme is grouped around three core disciplines: economic development, governance and social progress, including education. Its mission is to develop solutions to some of the region's most pressing development problems. JCI seeks to engage policymakers, scholars and ordinary citizens through regular public lectures and discussions, and to build lasting academic partnerships in the region and the wider Asia-Pacific.



jci@sunway.edu.my



jeffreycheahinstitute

jeffreycheahinst





The Jeffrey Sachs Center on Sustainable Development is a regional center of excellence that advances the achievement of the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in Malaysia and Southeast Asia, tackling the sustainability agenda through education, training, research and policy advisory. Launched in December 2016, the Center operates out of Sunway University and was borne out of a \$10 million gift from the Jeffrey Cheah Foundation (JCF) to the UN Sustainable Development Solutions Network (SDSN).

 $\sim$ 

jsc@sunway.edu.my



jeffreysachscenter



www.jeffreysachs.center



jeffreysachscenter